1958

Pillsbury Mills, Inc. v. Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. et al : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff and respondent, Pillsbury Mills, Inc., A Corporation, is a manufacturer and seller of turkey feeds at Ogden, Utah. It will be called "Pillsbury." Defendant and appellant, Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., A Corporation, was and is a processor and buyer of turkeys at Nephi, Juab County, Utah. It will be called "Nephi." Cross-complainants, intervenors and respondents, Lafe Morley and Callie Morley, his wife, hereinafter called "Morleys," are turkey growers of Millard County, Utah.

This is a suit brought by Pillsbury against Nephi. The theory of the suit was that Nephi had purchased from Morleys some turkeys and was obligated to pay those proceeds to Pillsbury under the terms of the chattel mortgage. It sought an accounting from Nephi as to the proceeds and a judgment for any proceeds not turned over to Pillsbury. Morleys intervened and claimed offsets, and alleged Pillsbury was not entitled to any more money. Nephi contends it purchased said turkeys on Morleys representation for Pillsbury and themselves of the balance owing Pillsbury which it remitted. After it developed said representations were false, Morleys undertook and agreed to protect Nephi against the suit by Pillsbury and took or sent Nephi to Morleys' attorney, who assured Nephi that it would be protected, and in effect need not follow the matter. Morleys' attorney filed an answer, confessing that Nephi held \$2700.00 which belonged either to Pillsbury or to Morley. In effect the answer stated that Nephi was a stake holder. Thereafter, Morleys' attorney signed a stipulation to the effect that the court could enter judgment against Nephi. Nephi did not enter into the stipulation and was not given any notice thereof, or that the other parties were in effect asking for entry of judgment against it. Upon learning of the judgment against Nephi, it asked the trial court to vacate said judgment. The trial court refused to vacate said judgment. This is an appeal from the judgment entered against Nephi, the refusal of the trial court to vacate the judgment, and grant a trial. It is predicated upon the

theory that Nephi never authorized anyone to confess judgment against it, and it was never given notice or knew that Pillsbury and Morley were in effect stipulating for judgment against it.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about January 20, 1953 Pillsbury and Morleys entered into a turkey raiser financing agreement; and to secure performance thereof and payment to Pillsbury by Morleys of a sum not to exceed \$60,500.00 on or before December 31, 1953, Morleys did on or about the 1st day of April, 1953 execute and deliver a chattel mortgage to the Pillsbury, a copy of which is attached to the Pillsbury's complaint (R. 2 to 3).

Said mortgage was upon turkeys located on the farm of Morleys near Delta, Millard County, Utah. It was filed of record in Millard County, Utah; and there is no evidence herein of filing it in any other county. Among other things it provided that in the event Morleys desired to sell they would notify Pillsbury, and if written consent were obtained:

“*** such sale will be made (by Morleys) for the use and benefit of the mortgagee to the extent of whatever obligations the mortgagors may owe to the mortgagee, and further agree that the moneys received from such sale to the extent of such obligations shall be and belong to the mortgagee and be applied upon and by way of mortgagors' said obligations up to the full extent thereof, and shall be remitted by the buyer of such tur-

keys directly to the mortgagee or its agent thereunto duly authorized without any right in mortgagors to receive any of the proceeds of such sale except such surplus as there may be over and above the amount of such obligations. Said mortgagors will direct the buyer to pay the proceeds of such sale to the mortgagee to the extent of the obligations owed by said mortgagors to the mortgagee.***." (R. 2-3, Ex. A. compt.).

During 1953 Pillsbury sold Morleys certain turkey feeds; and in connection therewith made certain representations and warranties of the character of said feed (R. 7-11).

On or about November 4, 1953, Morleys with consent of Pillsbury sold their 1953 turkeys New York Dressed to Nephi (defendant) at Nephi, Utah (Tr. 12-13; Ex. 2, 3, 4, 7, A). On or about the same day, Lafe Morley told M. L. Harmon, President-Manager of defendant, Morleys were indebted to Pillsbury in the sum of approximately \$41,000.00-\$43,722.08; that he had 5000 toms to process and market; that they would weigh approximately so much; that he needed \$4,000.00 for Ray Nielsen (for labor) and he needed \$3,000.00 for himself. A computation was made of the estimated purchase price to be paid by Nephi for said turkeys upon the representation by Morleys and the mutual assumption of the average weight of said turkeys to be determined in fact as the basis of the agreed purchase price. Upon such estimate it appeared there would be sufficient money to pay Pillsbury Forty-three Thousand odd dollars (\$43,722.08) and make

the \$7,000.00 advance payment to and for Morleys as requested (Tr. 10-12, 30-31).

Pursuant to the above computed price Nephi did on November 4, 1953 deliver to Ray Nielsen a check for \$4,000.00, and to Lafe Morley a check for \$3,000.00 as a part payment of the purchase price of said turkeys, subject to the later final determination of the correct total sale price of said turkeys, according to the actual weight after they were processed. After said purchase price was determined upon the actual processed weight of the birds delivered and the account between Nephi and Lafe Morley was cast up as of November 4, 1953 the account showed an advance overpayment on the agreed purchase price of \$3,887.25 (Tr. 10, 30-31).

Lafe Morley had also been a customer of Nephi during 1952. At the end of 1952 he was indebted to Nephi in the sum of \$2,135.33 (Tr. 10-11; Ex. 1). In 1953 he was again a customer of Nephi, and on November 25, 1953, he was indebted to Nephi in the sum of \$6,506.30 plus \$20.88, which by credit of \$514.60 was reduced to \$6,012.58 owing by Lafe Morley to Nephi on February 1, 1954 (Ex. 1); and that on February 24, 1954 Lafe Morley signed a promissory note as of February 1, 1954 to Nephi in said sum of \$6,012.58 (Tr. 9-12, 31, Ex. 1, Ex. 2).

During all of 1954 said Lafe Morley, Ray Nielsen and M. L. Harmon were partners, dba M. & J. Co. (R. 31).

On January 14, 1954 Pillsbury's counsel by letter notified Nephi that Morley's indebtedness to Pillsbury was \$46,401.24 less \$43,722.08 remitted by Nephi to Pillsbury, leaving a balance owing of \$2,679.16 and requested Nephi render Pillsbury a complete accounting (Ex. A, Tr. 37-8).

On January 20, 1954 Nephi answered, which was in part as follows:

"Nephi Processing Plant notified Mr. Lee Turner of Pillsbury Co., Ogden, Utah also Pillsbury Co.'s office at Los Angeles that they stand ready and willing to pay to Pillsbury Co. for the account of Lafe Morley \$2,679.16 as soon as we receive the authority from Lafe Morley to do so.

"We do not feel that we should make a payment on the account of Lafe Morley until we have the authority from Mr. Morley in writing.

"It is my understanding that Mr. Morley is making some kind of a claim against the Pillsbury Co. We do not want to be involved in any controversy between these two parties but do have to clear ourselves in this matter.

"The offer to clear this account will be terminated thirty days from date and the matter will have to be worked out directly with Mr. Morley."

A copy of said letter was sent to Lafe Morley (Ex. 7).

By letter dated February 11, 1954 Pillsbury's counsel wrote Nephi again requesting the accounting and proceeds under the terms of the mortgage; and among other things stated:

“Any dispute that may exist between Pillsbury and Mr. Morley need not be of any concern to you (Nephi Processing Company) as the same will be settled by the parties themselves directly, except as aid of the courts may be involved.” and advised that legal proceeding would be brought against Nephi (Ex. B; Tr. 37).

Shortly after receipt of Exhibit B from the Pillsbury's attorney, M. L. Harmon saw Lafe Morley and had a conversation with him concerning the contents thereof, in the defendant's office at Nephi. Mr. Harmon told Mr. Morley that said letter had been received, and that it claimed Nephi was indebted to Pillsbury about \$2,700.00. He also told Morley that he (Morley) was indebted to Nephi; but in view of the fact Harmon, Morley (and Nielsen) were going ahead with their turkey operation in 1954, Harmon would endeavor to have Nephi advance enough money to pay Pillsbury the \$2,700.00 if Morley so directed. Morley said he had a claim against Pillsbury much greater than \$2,700.00 and it would be offset; and that Morrley would protect the defendant from liability herein (R. 31-2 Tr. 22-23).

Pillsbury brought this action against Nephi without joining Morleys. On or about May 10, 1954 Nephi was served with process herein (Tr. 23). It was left with M. L. Harmon. He forthwith contacted Lafe Morley and advised Morley of said service. Lafe Morley advised Nephi that Morley's attorney was Dwight L. King of Salt Lake City, Utah; that all Harmon needed to do

to protect Nephi herein was to go and see said attorney of said Morleys (Tr. 24-5; R. 32-3).

About May 15, 1954 Harmon took summons to attorney Dwight L. King. Harmon told Mr. King what Mr. Morley had told Mr. Harmon. Mr. King told Mr. Harmon there was a greater sum owing Mr. Morley (by Pillsbury) so that he (Harmon) would not have to be concerned about it; that he (King) would protect Nephi in this suit and in the suit against Pillsbury. At that time Harmon told King that Morley was indebted to Nephi in the sum of \$6,012.58 for 1953 and prior years operations. Harmon did not tell Mr. King that Nephi had \$2,700.00 on hand which could be remitted to Pillsbury (or any other sum). That was the only conversation Harmon had with Mr. King. After what Mr. King told him, Mr. Harmon didn't think Nephi would need to be represented, and relied upon Mr. King to file an answer on behalf of Nephi and the Morleys (Tr. 24-6, 32-33).

Unknown in fact to Nephi, King filed a Motion for Change of Venue in the name of Nephi (R. 3), but for Morleys (Ex. 9, Tr. 45).

Eleven months passed by without any activity of record in the case. No communication or word passed between Nephi and Mr. King.

May 16, 1955 Mr. King filed herein Morley's cross-complaint against Pillsbury, alleging a breach of said turkey raising contract and warranties, and prayed that

the court order \$2,700.00 in the hands of Nephi be paid to Morleys, and Morleys have judgment against the plaintiff for \$23,634.00 less any sum due and owing under the mortgage involved herein; and for such other and further relief as to the court may seem meet and equitable (R. 7-11). It was not served on Nephi. Pillsbury's answer thereto was not served on defendant (R. 18-20). At the same time Mr. King filed Morleys Motion to Intervene (R. 12). It was not served on Nephi; and no information of or notice of any or all of these matters came to Nephi until after entry of judgment, February 22, 1957 (Tr. 6-8; 25-6).

On May 16, 1955 Mr. King filed an answer in the name of Nephi, and purportedly for Nephi, and therein it was falsely stated that Nephi held in its hands approximately \$2,700.00 from the sale price of Morleys 1953 turkeys. Said answer prayed that the court determine to whom the funds in Nephi's hands belonged, and make such orders as are necessary to protect Nephi against Pillsbury or Morleys for such payments should the court require the Nephi to pay either, and for such further relief as to the court may seem meet and equitable in the premises (R. 13-14). It was not a pleading to protect Nephi; but was in the nature of an interpleader to help Morleys. No authority was given by Nephi to file such a pleading. It was repudiated when it became known (R. 29-31).

The Secretary-Treasurer of Nephi, Mr. Steele, never

knew prior to February 22, 1957 that Dwight L. King purported to represent Nephi in the above cause. He never saw a copy of the answer filed herein by Mr. King in the name of Nephi until after February 21, 1957, when a copy of said answer was brought to Nephi's office by attorney Jensen. Mr. Steele was the one who always picked up Nephi's mail during 1954 and 1955, and no communication was received from Dwight L. King during those years in relation to this case; and no such record was in the files of Nephi (Tr. 5-7). Mr. King claims he forwarded a copy of the answer filed in the name of Nephi under date of May 13, 1955 (R. 42), which was never received by Nephi.

On November 15, 1956 the above cause was set to be tried February 13, 1955 (R. 21). On January 23, 1957, written interrogatories were submitted to the Morleys by Pillsbury and served upon Mr. King, as counsel for the Morleys. On January 29, 1957, Pillsbury noticed Mr. King as Morley's counsel, and purportedly as Nephi's counsel, he would take the deposition of Lafe Morley (R. 24). No word was sent to or received by Nephi of any of these. (No examination of Lafe Morley was made on behalf of Nephi).

On February 13, 1957, Mr. King, as attorney for the Morleys signed a stipulation that judgment might be entered against Nephi. It was filed February 21, 1957. Mr. King did not even purport to sign as attorney for Nephi (R. 25). On February 18, 1957 judgment was

rendered and entered on February 21, 1957 in favor of Pillsbury and against Nephi for \$2,679.16 plus interest, or for \$3,181.38 (R. 27). On the same date judgment was entered dismissing said cross-complaint on a written stipulation dated February 19, 1957 between counsel for Pillsbury and counsel for Morleys (R. 26).

On February 21, 1957 counsel for Pillsbury wrote Nephi that judgment had been entered against it in the above amounts and asked Nephi to pay same (Ex. 5, Tr. 27).

On February 22, 1957 Udell R. Jensen, counsel for Nephi, called attorney King by phone. At that time Mr. King stated he didn't represent Nephi herein and that the pleading he filed in Nephi's name was only as a matter of courtesy or accommodation (Tr. 45-6; R. 52-3).

On February 25, 1957 at 7:30 p.m. (after judgment had been entered) an envelope was mailed to Mr. Milton Harmon, Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., Nephi, Utah, by Dwight L. King. It contained a letter which was dated February 13, 1957 to "Dear Milton"; and stated that the Pillsbury and Morleys had finally agreed, and the balance held from the sale of the Morley birds in 1953 could be paid to the plaintiff (Ex. 6; Tr. 26-7).

The first information which came to Nephi after Pillsbury's letters requesting an accounting and payment dated January 14, 1954 and February 11, 1954 (Ex. A and B) was Exhibit 5 dated February 21, 1957, after entry of judgment (Tr. 25-7).

On March 12, 1957 counsel for defendant wrote Mr. King, in part as follows:

“In view of your statement to me over the phone on February 22, 1957, that you did not represent the Nephi Processing Plant in the above case, will you please advise me on behalf of the Nephi Processing Plant the following:

1. On whose statement, and on what facts did you file the Motion for Change of Venue in the above case, and also the Answer, both of which purport to be filed on behalf of the Nephi Processing Plant.
2. If you at the time believed you represented the Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., a corporation, when did you first come to the view that you no longer represented them in the above case?
3. What notice or information did you give to the Nephi Processing Plant, or any of its officers, that you did not represent said Processing Plant in said case?
4. What, if any, notice did you give to them, or anyone on their behalf, that you intended to have the Judgment entered against them dated February 18, 1957.” (Ex. 8, Tr. 45).

On March 15, 1957, he answered in part as follows:

“* * * I never did discuss the Motion for Change of Venue with anyone representing Nephi Processing Plant to my recollection, that was purely the discussion between myself and Mr. Morley.

“2. In answer to question number two, the

question of representing Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. other than for the purpose of protecting Morley's interest was never discussed with anyone. When Mr. Harmon came into my office to discuss this matter he had already talked to Morley and Morley had instructed him to come in and had told him that I was representing the Morleys in their claim against Pillsbury Mills. The Answer which was filed represented my understanding of the only interest which Nephi Processing Plant Inc. had in the law suit, namely, that of a stake holder and were only concerned about not having to pay twice on the same claim.

"3. I am sure Mr. Harmon will recall that no fee was ever discussed with me nor has there ever been any tendered or received by me for the Answer which was filed disclaiming any interest in the money on the part of Nephi Processing Plant, Inc.

"No notice was ever given to Nephi Processing Plant of my not representing said plant. I never did represent them so it was not my thought in the matter that I was not representing them." (Ex. 9; Tr. 45).

A further letter was sent by attorney Jensen for the defendant to attorney King on March 19, 1957 (Ex. 10; Tr. 45). March 27, 1957, attorney King answered at length stating his position and explaining his conduct. Therein, among other things, he says:

"My only interest was in presenting for Morleys a claim against Pillsbury Mills, Inc., which I have done and which I have settled satisfactory

to my client, Lafe Morley, and to my own satisfaction." (Ex. 11; Tr. 45).

On April 15, 1957 Nephi filed its Motion to Vacate Judgment rendered February 18, 1957 challenging attorney King's authority to appear or plead for defendant herein; to strike the answer filed by him in defendant's name; and to permit defendant to file its tendered answer (actually filed 4-15-57, R. 46-48) to which was attached the affidavits of M. L. Harmon and Edward W. Clyde (R. 31-7). Said affidavit of Mr. Clyde states he advised Mr. King that Mr. Clyde was not the attorney for the defendant in the above cause or generally; that notice should be given to either Mr. John S. Boyden or Udell R. Jensen (R. 35-6). No such notice was given, or claimed to be given, by Mr. King.

The accounting case between Lafe Morley, Ray Nielsen and M. L. Harmon filed in Juab County, Utah (Civil No. 3767) is referred to by Mr. King (Ex. 9, R. 41-45), in which Mr. Arthur Nielsen is counsel for Morley and Nielson. In that case, Mr. Nielson has resisted the inclusion therein of the further and supplemental answer and defense of the facts of the judgments entered in this case. On pre-trial of that case in Juab County, which Mr. King refers to in his affidavit, the Hon. Maurice Harding announced he was inclined to rule that the matters which could have been litigated in this case (Civil No. 29182) could not be included in Civil No. 3767 (R. 51-53).

On April 19, 1957 demand was made on Dwight L. King for the production of certain documents, at the time the motion to vacate the judgment was to be heard (R. 37-8). Said documents were never produced; and Dwight L. King never appeared in court on this matter. His only statement in the case is his affidavit filed herein after the hearing.

On June 15, 1957 the district court entered its order denying defendant's motion to vacate the judgment and to strike pleading filed by Mr. King in defendant's name and to permit filing of defendant's answer (R. 54).

On June 28, 1957 defendant filed its motion for rehearing or new trial, and attached an affidavit referring to the documents or papers which the Morleys and their counsel had been asked to produce, asserting that Dwight L. King advised defendant on April 20, 1957 that he claimed to have written a letter to defendant, which among other things read: "I do not think that it will be necessary for you to appeal (appear) or take any action at the time of trial." Therein is asserted lack of notice, surprise and excuse for failure to produce documents which would have established that the Morley defendants knew that the substance of the answer of the defendant was false; that the defendant and the court had been imposed on; and that by ordinary diligence defendant could not produce said documents at the hearing on the motion herein (R. 84-5).

Defendant's motion for rehearing or new trial was

denied by the trial court the 21st day of August, 1957 (R. 88).

Notice of appeal from denial of the Motion to Vacate the Judgment, strike the pleading filed by attorney King in defendant's name, and to permit defendant to file its answer herein was filed July 15, 1957 (R. 102).

Second Notice of Appeal from the ruling of the court denying defendant's motion for rehearing or new trial was filed September 10, 1957 (R. 111).

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

The real dispute arose between Pillsbury and the Morleys as to whether Morleys owed Pillsbury or Pillsbury owed Morleys on their transaction. Without any notice to or information received by Nephi, Pillsbury and Morleys settled their differences between themselves; and they then stipulated without notice to Nephi judgment be entered in favor of Pillsbury and against Nephi for the debt of Morleys.

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