1958

## Pillsbury Mills, Inc. v. Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

While quoting in its brief the substance of Rule 5 (a), defendant omits to refer to Rule 5 (b) which provides in part:

“Whenever under these rules service is required to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, the service shall be made upon the attorney \* \* \*.”

In considering this phase of the matter it is to be remembered that Nephi, the defendant, and Morley, the cross-complainant against plaintiff, had the same attorney, and it was deliberately arranged by Mr. Harmon, President of the defendant company, that the defendant be represented by one whom he knew to be Morleys'

attorney. With this in mind we will review the record on the matters referred to by defendant.

(1) *The motion of the Morleys to intervene.* This motion was served upon Mr. Olmstead, Attorney for Pillsbury, but not otherwise. Defendant as such was not served. The motion to intervene by its terms reflects its sole purpose as being the filing of a cross-complaint against the plaintiff alone. The rights of the defendant would not be affected by the granting or denial of the motion, and we submit that service upon defendant was not required under Rule 5 (b). Further than that, defendant had the same attorney as the Morleys, and under Rule 5 (b) where a party is represented by an attorney, service shall be made upon the attorney, not the party.

Certainly an attorney who represents two parties in a pending action, and who files a motion on behalf of one, need not serve himself as attorney for the other. The purpose of the service requirements is to keep the attorneys for the parties fully informed, and where an attorney himself files a pleading he need not serve himself in order to have notice thereof.

(2) *The Cross-complaint.* What we have said under (1) above, applies with equal force here. The cross-complaint was against plaintiff alone. Defendant was not a party thereto, and not affected thereby. The attorney for the defendant was the same as the attorney for the cross-complainants, and Rule 5 does not require that under those circumstances an attorney serve himself.

(3) *Pillsbury's answer to the cross-complaint.* Pills-

bury's answer to the cross-complaint was served upon the cross-complainants through their attorney. Defendant was not a party thereto, and not affected thereby. To the extent, if any, to which defendant was entitled to notice, which we deny, notice to Mr. King, upon whom a copy of the answer was served, was notice to defendant, his client.

(4) *Notice of the trial setting.* Notice of the trial setting was given to all parties, through their respective attorneys, which is in compliance with the rules. However, in view of the manner in which the matter was ultimately disposed of, the matter of such notice is purely academic.

(5) *The stipulation for judgment.* This stipulation was prepared by Mr. King, and signed by him as attorney for cross-complainants. He was also attorney for defendant, and so had notice in such capacity of what he was doing in his capacity as attorney for the Morleys. Whether he should have discussed the matter further with the defendant we express no opinion, as that is not involved in the point under discussion, namely, the matter of notice under Rule 5. We do say that any such discussion would be of no consequence, as defendant had pleaded and so represented to the court and to plaintiff that it had no interest in the funds which were the subject of the stipulation, and wanted only to pay them over to the party, Pillsbury or Morleys, entitled thereto. The stipulation agreeing for payment to Pillsbury served only to solve the quandry defendant felt itself in.

(6) *The stipulation for dismissal of the cross-com-*



*plaint.* As we have previously noted, the cross-complaint was solely between the Morleys and plaintiff. The Morleys brought it, and with the consent of the plaintiff could dismiss it. Defendant was not a party thereto, and its consent to dismissal was not required. If it was entitled to notice, which we deny as it was not affected thereby, it had such notice by reason of the fact that the attorney that represented it was a signatory thereto.

We submit that there is no merit to any contention based upon lack of notice under Rule 5.

#### POINT V.

#### THIS IS NOT A PROPER CASE FOR RELIEF BY WAY OF VACATING THE JUDGMENT UNDER RULE 60 (b)

It is uncontroverted in this record that in the fall of 1953 when the Morleys brought their turkeys to Nephi Processing Plant for processing and sale that Nephi knew they were subject to mortgage to Pillsbury, and that in fact Nephi did remit to Pillsbury by two checks (Tr. 17) in excess of \$43,000.00, (Tr. 30), which but for \$2,679.16 covered the Morleys obligation to Pillsbury. However, Nephi claims that when the toms were to come in, which were the last of Morleys' birds, Morleys represented to it that there would be enough toms to finish paying Pillsbury, with some \$7,000.00 over. Based upon this representation, and without checking with Pillsbury as to the amount of its debt, and without checking to determine how many toms were actually left, Nephi advanced to Morley \$7,000.00 against what it anticipated to be surplus. This was done while

fully cognizant of the fact that if there were not in fact sufficient proceeds to liquidate the Pillsbury debt, in the light of the \$7,000.00 advance to Morleys, Nephi would have to nevertheless account to Pillsbury for the balance of the debt (Tr. 19, 41). Later it developed that there were insufficient birds to pay the \$2,679.16 balance owing Pillsbury, and to offset the \$7,000.00 advance to Morleys, by some \$3,887.25, so on February 1, 1954, Nephi took the Morleys' note for \$6,012.58, representing the \$3,887.25 excess advance above referred to, and \$2,135.33, that they had owed Nephi from the year previous (Tr. 9, 10, 12).

Morley's note for \$6,012.58, dated February 1, 1954, was not by its terms due until December 31, 1954, so even if the funds in Nephi's possession belonged to Morley, which they couldn't in the light of the mortgage agreement, they were not then subject to set off against the Morley note, because the note wasn't due. Hence, there is small wonder that Nephi wrote to Mr. Olmstead (Ex. 7) advising that it was "ready and willing to pay to Pillsbury for the account of Lafe Morley \$2,679.16 as soon as we receive the authority from Lafe Morley so to do", or that Mr. King, when the transaction was explained to him, pleaded in behalf of Nephi that Nephi had no interest in the funds, but wanted only directions as to whether to pay them to Pillsbury or to the Morleys.

Now defendant claims surprise and excusable neglect in that Mr. King pleaded these facts on its behalf, and claims the lower court committed reversible error in not vacating the judgment and permitting it to file an amended answer which, on the face of the record, is patently sham and frivolous.

The sum and substance of the tendered amended answer, and which defendant now contends contains its "meritorious defense", is that the Morleys, by their quality claim against Pillsbury, had the right to offset the same against the balance owing Pillsbury on the feed account under the mortgage; that having settled the quality claim without taking into account the mortgage balance, this mortgage balance is nevertheless wiped out and defendant, *who is not a party to any of those matters*, is thereby discharged insofar as plaintiff is concerned with respect to the proceeds from the sale of the Morley turkeys.

In other words, and to get the meat of the matter, the proposition is that Pillsbury and the Morleys, who were the only persons involved, had no right to settle Morleys' claim against Pillsbury for asserted damages arising out of the quality of feed sold by Pillsbury to the Morleys, without taking into account in the settlement the balance owing by the Morleys for the feed. There can be no merit in such contention. Pillsbury and the Morleys were dealing at arms length, and they had the right and were free to compromise their differences as they mutually agreed. If they wanted to settle them piecemeal, they were free so to do. If they wanted to settle the quality claim and get that behind them, before concluding the matter of the feed account, there was nothing to prevent them doing so. The quality claim was initiated by the Morleys by way of intervention and it could be disposed of by voluntary dismissal. Defendant was not a party to it, and certainly can't complain that the Morleys who originally filed it, subsequently elected to dismiss it.

By the same token, defendant having not only pleaded, but acknowledged in its testimony, that it possessed funds from the mortgaged turkeys over and beyond those remitted to Pillsbury, and having acknowledged that but for its own carelessness and neglect it would not have over advanced to the Morleys against anticipated surplus funds, and having acknowledged that it knew when it made the advance to the Morleys that the advance was against mortgaged birds and that if it over advanced it must nevertheless account to Pillsbury, and having acknowledged that it now holds Morleys note for the full amount of what Morley owes it, and still withholds from Pillsbury proceeds from the sale of the mortgaged turkeys, it is difficult to conceive of *any* meritorious defense to Pillsbury's claim against it, much less the one set forth in the proposed amended answer.

Finally, we come to a consideration of the true significance of Rule 60 (b), under which the defendant seeks to invoke the aid of the court. At page 36 of defendant's brief is a partial quotation from this Court's decision in the case of *Chrysler v. Chrysler*, 5 Utah (2) 415, 303 P. (2) 995. We quote further therefrom:

"It will be found, however, that these cases are predicated upon the hypothesis that there has been some mistake or excusable neglect on the part of the movant from which, in justice and equity, he should be relieved. The pertinent inquiry here is whether plaintiff met that requirement."

As heretofore pointed out, the sole question on this appeal is whether the lower court erred in denying

defendant's motion to vacate the judgment previously entered, a motion invoking the sound discretion of the trial court in the light of the facts as they were then made to appear. Rule 60 (b) in its provisions for relief from a judgment, is not dissimilar to former Section 104-14-4, so far as the latter dealt with this subject. The position of this court in the matter of review of the trial court's ruling on such a motion has been stated on several occasions. In *Thomas v. Morris*, 8 Utah 284, 31 P. 446, the rule was thus stated:

"The statute is very broad, and under it the granting or refusing of an application to set aside a judgment taken by default or rendered upon a hearing in the absence of one of the parties, through 'his mistake' inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect,' is, by the express terms of the statute, vested in the court, and its action will not be disturbed on appeal, unless an abuse of discretion is shown."

And in *McWhirter vs. Donaldson, et al.*, 36 Utah 293, 104 P. 731:

"The general rule is that a motion to vacate a judgment entered by default on the ground of excusable neglect and permit the party against whom it is entered to plead to the merits is addressed to the sound discretion of the court, and, unless it is made to appear that such discretion has been abused, the ruling of the court in vacating or refusing to vacate the judgment will not be disturbed on appeal."

Further in the *McWhirter* case, *supra*, the court said:

"In order for a party to bring a case within the provisions of Section 3005, Comp. Laws 1907, he

must show that he has used due diligence to prepare and present his defense, and that he was either prevented from doing so because of some accident, misfortune, or circumstance over which he has no control; or that he has been misled or lulled into inaction by some agreement or act of the opposite party or his counsel upon which he had a right to rely. This appellant has wholly failed to do."

From the foregoing it is apparent that the determination of the lower court in a matter such as this is controlled by certain considerations, namely, (1) there must be some mistake or excusable neglect on the part of the movant from which he ought to be relieved, (2) he has used due diligence to present his defense, (3) he has been prevented from so doing because of some accident, misfortune or circumstance over which he has no control, or has been misled or lulled into inaction by some act of the opposite party or counsel upon which he had a right to rely, and, (4) granting the motion would be in furtherance of justice. The action of the lower court in granting or denying such a motion will not be disturbed by this court unless there has been a "manifest abuse of discretion."

With these rules in mind, consideration may be given to the ruling of the lower court on the record before it.

(1) No mistake or excusable neglect on the part of the defendant was shown. The "mistake and neglect" attempted to be relied upon is that defendant pleaded in its answer that it had the funds, had no interest therein, and wanted protection only in the matter of

to whom to make payment. That pleading was not a mistake, but on the record reflects the true facts. While defendant may urge that it was a mistake for its attorney to plead the truth, such of course, is not the type of mistake to which the rule has reference.

(2) Upon the matter of diligence, the record shows, and it is a record that was largely made by the defendant, that upon being served with summons, it took the same to Attorney King and arranged that he represent it (Tr. 32-33); it advised Mr. King that it had the \$2,679.16 proceeds from the turkeys, had no interest therein, and wanted only to pay it to the party, Pillsbury or Morley, properly entitled thereto, (Exhibits 9 and 11 and Affidavit of Mr. King. R. 41). These are the facts, and the only facts, that were disclosed by defendant to its attorney, notwithstanding defendant received a copy of the answer as filed.

(3) No contention has ever been made that defendant has been misled or lulled into inaction by plaintiff, who was and is the only other party to the proceeding. Plaintiff not only warned defendant of its intention to bring suit, but also warned defendant against injecting itself into any disputes between plaintiff and the Morleys, and particularly advised defendant that any such disputes would be "settled by the parties themselves directly." (Exhibit B).

(4) Nor could the vacation of the judgment be in "furtherance of justice", but on the contrary justice is served only by preserving the judgment as entered. The funds in Nephi's possession came from the sale of Morleys' turkeys, and belonged either to the Morleys,

the owners, or to Pillsbury, the mortgagee thereof. Nephi, nor any one else had any right thereto. Morleys and Pillsbury, the only ones concerned, agreed that they should go to Pillsbury. Justice certainly would not be served by re-litigating a question upon which the only interested parties have agreed.

## POINT VI.

### THE JUDGMENT SHOULD NOT BE VACATED FOR ANY ALLEGED ABSENCE OF FINDINGS OR FAILURE TO DISPOSE OF MATERIAL ISSUES.

The point here is made, among others, that Rules 12 (d) and 56 (c) were not complied with. Rule 12 (d) concerns itself with the procedure for disposing of a motion for judgment on the pleadings, and Rule 56 (c) with motions for summary judgment. Neither are here pertinent, as neither type of question was here involved.

Here the pleadings reflected a claim by plaintiff against the defendant for certain funds, the disclaimer by the defendant of any interest therein, and the assertion by the defendant that there was involved conflicting rights to the funds as between plaintiff and the Morleys. Hence, on the pleadings, the only material issue was whether defendant should pay the funds over to Pillsbury or to the Morleys. The trial court was saved the burden of determining that by the stipulation of the Morleys that they be paid to plaintiff. Had defendant theretofore tendered the money into court, an appropriate order could have been made for payment over to plaintiff. As defendant had not made such tender, however, and still had possession of the



funds, the only appropriate order that could have been made was that which the Court did make, namely, judgment in favor of plaintiff against defendant.

The other point here made is that the lower court failed to make findings of fact. There appear to be a number of complete answers to this contention.

Rule 52 (b) provides that except in actions for divorce, findings are waived by a failure to appear at the time of trial, and the defendant here did not so appear, albeit it had notice through its attorney of all proceedings.

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